
           

Dan Davis, Chair
Alex Nemer II, Vice-Chair
Greg Lindsey, Commissioner
Kristy Wages, Commissioner
Adam Armstrong, Commissioner
Jennifer Thomason, Commissioner
Grizelda Castillo, Commissioner
 

Susan Davis, Planning Tech

 NOTICE OF MEETING
PLANNING AND ZONING

COMMISSION
June 6, 2024

1:30 p.m.
City Council Chambers

504 N. Queen Street
Palestine, Texas

 

 

Zoom Link:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82910018716?pwd=3E4TiqE0sbPaeHrxrstx5RwFCH9RG2.1

Meeting ID: 829 1001 8716
Passcode: 886388

One tap mobile
+13462487799,,82910018716#,,,,*886388# US

Note: when you are joining a Zoom meeting by phone, you can use your phone’s dial pad to enter the commands *6 for toggling
mute/unmute and *9 to “raise your hand.” Learn more here.

Follow us live at: facebook.com/palestinetx/

           

A. CALL TO ORDER
 

  

B. PROPOSED CHANGES OF AGENDA ITEMS
 

  

C. PUBLIC COMMENTS
Any citizen wishing to speak during public comments regarding an item on or off the agenda
may do so during this section of the agenda. All comments must be no more than five
minutes in length. Any comments regarding items, not on the posted agenda may not be
discussed or responded to by the Commissioners. Members of the public may join via Zoom
or in person.
 

  

D. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES
 

  

E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES   

1. Consider approval of minutes from the May 2, 2024, meeting.
 

F. PUBLIC HEARINGS / DISCUSSION AND ACTION ITEMS   

1. Public hearing and discussion to consider a Specific Use Permit for Manufacturing, Processing,
Packaging-Light, and associated Retail Sales located at 512 N. John Street, Original Block 101,
Lot 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16B, and 18. 

2. Public hearing and discussion to consider rezoning the area starting at the corner of West Oak
extending east on Pillar, then south towards M. L. Cary, then east on M. L. Cary to West
Reagan, then south on West Reagan to Loop 256, then west on Loop 256 to West Oak, then
north on West Oak to Pillar (excluding property in the Retail Commercial (RC) zoning district)
from Industrial (I) to Mixed Residential (MR).

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82910018716?pwd=3E4TiqE0sbPaeHrxrstx5RwFCH9RG2.1
http://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362663-Joining-a-meeting-by-phone
http://facebook.com/palestinetx/


3. Discussion and possible action regarding manufactured homes within the city limits.
 

G. ADJOURNMENT
 

  

I certify that the above Notice of Meeting was posted on the outdoor bulletin board at the main entrance to
City Hall, 504 N. Queen Street, Palestine, Texas, in compliance with Chapter 551 of the Texas
Government Code on Monday, June 3, 2024, at 1:25 p.m.

April Jackson, City Secretary

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA)
PERSONS IN NEED OF SPECIAL ACCOMMODATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS PROCEEDING
SHALL, CONTACT THE CITY SECRETARY'S OFFICE VIA EMAIL AT citysecretary@palestine-tx.org or
903-731-8414.

mailto:therrera@palestine-tx.org


Agenda Date: 06/06/2024
To: Planning and Zoning Commission
From: Susan Davis, Planning Technician
Agenda Item: Approval of Minutes for the May 2, 2024 Meeting
Date Submitted: 06/03/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider approval of the Minutes from the May 2, 2024, meeting.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of the Minutes.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Minutes 



 Minutes of the Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting of May 2, 2024 

 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON  § 
CITY OF PALESTINE  § 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Palestine convened in a Regular Meeting on Thursday, May 
2, 2024, at 1:30 p.m., in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 504 N. Queen Street, Palestine, Texas, with the 
following people present: Chairman Dan Davis; Commissioners Alex Nemer, Kristy Wages,  and Jennifer 
Thomason. 
 
Staff present: Planning Tech Susan Davis, City Manager Teresa Herrera, and City Manager’s Administrative 
Assistant Casey DeBord. 
 
Commissioners  Grizelda Castillo, Greg Lindsey, and Adam Armstrong were absent. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
With a quorum present, Chairman Davis called the meeting to order at 1:31 p.m. 
 
PROPOSED CHANGES OF AGENDA ITEMS 
None. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
No public comments were made. 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES 
There were none.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Commissioner Nemer made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Thomason to approve minutes from March 
7, 2024, meeting with the corrected approval date. Upon vote, the motion carried unanimously 4-0.   
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS/ DISCUSSION AND ACTION ITEMS 
 
1. Discussion regarding Sheridan Terrace, Pinewood I, and Pinewood II. 

 
Planning Tech Susan Davis provided a summary concerning the Legal Non-conforming status of the single-
family residential neighborhoods located in the Industrial Zoning District.  Commissioners discussed a 
proposed boundary for consideration of rezoning from Industrial to Mixed Residential for consideration during 
the June 6, 2024, meeting.  

 
2. Discussion and possible action regarding the final plat for the Overlook Apartments Addition for 

approval of a 60’ R.O.W. dedication of Overlook Way. 
 
Planning Tech Susan Davis presented a summary of the prior approval of the plat for the Overlook Apartments 
and the approval required for roadway dedication.  Chairman Davis opened the public hearing at 2:13 p.m. City 
Manager Teresa Herrera confirmed that the City is not opposed to the roadway dedication.  Chairman Davis 
closed the public hearing at 2:13 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Nemer made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Thomason, to approve the item as presented.  
Upon vote, motion carried 4-0. 

 
3. Public hearing and discussion to consider a Specific Use Permit for placement of a manufactured home 

at 911 N. Esplanade, Jacob Snively Survey, A-63, Block 862-1, Tract 19, 20, 21.  
 
Planning Tech Susan Davis presented a summary including the owner’s voluntary demolition of the 
substandard structure located on the property and request for placement of a manufactured home.  Ten notices 
were sent to owners within a 200-ft. radius, one was returned in favor, and none were opposed.  Chairman 
Davis opened the public hearing at 2:18 p.m.  No one spoke in favor or opposition.    Chairman Davis closed the 



 Minutes of the Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting of May 2, 2024 

 

 

public hearing at 2:19 p.m.  Commissioner Nemer made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Thomason, to 
approve the application for Specific Use Permit.  Upon vote, the motion failed 0-4.   
 
4. Public hearing and discussion to consider amending Chapter 39, Section 39.5.3, Use Definitions to add 

a definition for Short-Term Rental. 
 

Planning Tech Susan Davis presented the proposed Short-Term Rental definition.  Chairman Davis opened the 
public hearing at 2:28 p.m. No one spoke in favor or opposition.    Chairman Davis closed the public hearing at 
2:28 p.m.  Commissioner Nemer made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Wages, to approve the item as 
presented.  Upon vote, motion carried 4-0. 

 
5. Public hearing and discussion to consider amending Chapter 39, Section 39.2.2-13, Land Use Chart to 

remove the Airbnb Rental Unit category and add a Short-Term Rental category. 
 
Planning Tech Susan Davis presented a summary of Short-Term Rental use category in place of the Airbnb 
company name and the difference in the Bed and Breakfast use category.  Chairman Davis opened the public 
hearing at 2:31 p.m. No one spoke in favor or opposition.    Chairman Davis closed the public hearing at 2:31 
p.m.  Commissioner Thomason made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Nemer, to approve the item as 
presented.  Upon vote, motion carried 4-0. 

 
6. Public hearing and discussion to consider amending Chapter 39, Section 39.2.2-13, Land Use Chart to 

allow Body Art Studio/Branding, Piercing and Tattoo Facility in the Industrial Zoning District. 
 

Planning Tech Susan Davis presented a summary of the current zoning districts allowing Body Art 
Studio/Branding, Piercing and Tattoo Facility.  Chairman Davis opened the public hearing at 2:42 p.m. No one 
spoke in favor or opposition.    Chairman Davis closed the public hearing at 2:43 p.m.  Commissioner Nemer 
made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Thomason, to approve the item as presented.  Upon vote, motion 
carried 4-0. 
 
7. Public hearing and discussion to consider amending Chapter 39, Section 39.4.3-2(6) to reference the 

Appendix B Fee Schedule in place of the stated Specific Use Permit fee. 
 
Planning Tech Susan Davis presented information concerning City Council’s approval of an updated Appendix 
Fee B Fee Schedule and the need to remove the previous fee listed in Section 39.4.3-2(6).  Chairman Davis 
opened the public hearing at 2:50 p.m. No one spoke in favor or opposition.    Chairman Davis closed the public 
hearing at 2:50 p.m.  Commissioner Nemer made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Thomason, to approve 
the item as presented.  Upon vote, motion carried 4-0. 
 
ADJOURN 
With no other business to come before the Commission, Commissioner Nemer made a motion, seconded by 
Commissioner Wages, to adjourn the meeting at 2:55 p.m. Motion carried 4-0. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED THIS 6th DAY OF JUNE 2024. 
 
 
             
       Dan Davis, Chairman 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Susan Davis, Planning Tech 



Agenda Date: 06/06/2024
To: Planning and Zoning Commission
From: Susan Davis, Planning Technician
Agenda Item: Specific Use Permit for 512 N John
Date Submitted: 06/03/2024

SUMMARY:
Public Hearing and consideration of a request for a Specific Use Permit for Manufacturing, Processing,
Packaging-Light, and associated Retail Sales located at 512 N. John Street, Original Block 101, Lot 11,
12, 13, 14, 15, 16B, and 18.  The applicant, Thorough Food Company LLC, has purchased the
Eilenberger Bakery with the intent to produce food products sold at their retail locations throughout
Texas.  On May 7, 2024, twenty-three notices were mailed to property owners within 200-feet of the
location of the specific use permit request. Five (22%) have been returned in favor of the request. None
(0%) have been returned in opposition. Eighteen (78%) owners did not respond.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
For public hearing, discussion and consideration.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Application 
Staff Report 









 
 

XZ-24-4 / 03.07.2024 
S.U.P. Manufacturing, Processing, Packaging-Light with Associated Retail / 512 N. John Page 1 of 3 

 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

         AGENDA DATE: June 6, 2024 

      ITEM XZ-24-4 / STAFF REPORT 

 

 

 

REQUEST:  A specific use permit for Manufacturing, Processing, Packaging-

Light, and Associated Retail Sales located at 512 N. John Street 

APPLICANT: Thorough Food Company LLC 

EXHIBITS: Zoning Map, Area Map 

PREPARED BY:  Susan Davis, Planning Tech 

 

PROPERTY INFORMATION 

LOCATION: 512 N. John Street 

ZONING: CBD, Central Business District 

OVERLAY ZONES: Downtown Historic District, Main Street District 

LAND USE: Commercial – Food Manufacturing, Retail, and Distribution 

ADJACENT ZONING: CBD, Central Business District 

ACREAGE: 1.283 acres 

SUBDIVISION: Original Palestine 

  

SUMMARY OF REQUEST 

The applicant, Thorough Food Company LLC, applied for a specific use permit to allow 

Manufacturing, Processing, Packaging-Light, and Associated Retail Sales located at 512 

N. John Street for food manufacturing, retail, and distribution. The proposed business 

location is the former Eilenberger Bakery which included a store front, bakery, and 

manufacturing and distribution of coffee, popcorn, and other products.  Thorough Food 

Company LLC will produce food products sold at their other locations in Texas, including 

baked goods, smoked meats, condiments/sauces, pickles, preserves, and other food 

items.  The store front will contain a retail bakery, coffee shop, and sandwich shop 

sourced by the production happening in the rest of the building. 

PROPERTY ZONING AND LAND USE 

The property where the food manufacturing, retail, and distribution is proposed to be 

located is zoned Central Business District. Adjacent zoning districts include Central 

Business District to the south, east, and west.  

 

 

 



 
 

XZ-24-4 / 03.07.2024 
S.U.P. Manufacturing, Processing, Packaging-Light with Associated Retail / 512 N. John Page 2 of 3 

 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

On May 7, 2024, twenty-three notices were mailed to property owners within 200-feet of 

the location of the specific use permit request. Five (22%) have been returned in favor 

of the request. None (0%) have been returned in opposition.  Eighteen (78%) owners did 

not respond. 

ZONING AND DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS  

Chapter 39, Article II, Section 39.2.2-13, Land Use Chart indicates that a Specific Use 

Permit is required for “Manufacturing, Processing, and Packaging-Light, and Associated 

Retail Sales”.   

Chapter 39, Article II, Section 39.4.3-2 (3) Specific Use Permit, Standards for Approval 

states as follows: 

(3) Standards for approval. The planning and zoning commission and the city council shall consider the 
following when reviewing an application for a specific use permit (SUP) on a property:  

(a) Conformance with applicable regulations and standards established by this zoning ordinance;  

(b) Compatibility with the comprehensive plan;  

(c) Compatibility with existing or permitted uses on neighboring properties in terms of building 
height, bulk, scale, setbacks, open spaces, landscaping and site development, and access and 
circulation capacity; unless the neighboring properties are nonconforming and/or not in 
compliance with the comprehensive plan and approval of the specific use permit (SUP) will bring 
the requested property in compliance with this chapter and the city's comprehensive plan;  

(d) Potentially unfavorable effects or impacts on existing or permitted uses on adjacent sites, to the 
extent such impacts exceed those that reasonably may result from use of the site by a permitted 
use, including without limitation:  

i. Location, lighting and type of signs, and the relation of signs to adjacent properties;  

ii. Noise producing elements;  

iii. Glare of vehicular and stationary lights and effect of such lights on the established character 
of the neighborhood;  

iv. Safety from fire hazard, and measures for fire control; and  



 
 

XZ-24-4 / 03.07.2024 
S.U.P. Manufacturing, Processing, Packaging-Light with Associated Retail / 512 N. John Page 3 of 3 

 

v. Protection of adjacent property from drainage, floods, erosion or other water damage.  

(e) Safety and convenience of vehicular and pedestrian circulation on the premises and in the area 
immediately surrounding the site, and the effect of traffic reasonably expected to be generated 
by the proposed use and other uses reasonably anticipated in the area considering existing zoning 
and proposed land uses in the area and the ability of the city's existing transportation network to 
handle the traffic.  

SPECIFIC USE PERMIT LOCATION MAP 

 

 

STAFF COMMENTS  

Thorough Food Company LLC operates retail locations throughout Texas.  The company 

has purchased the building located at 512 N. John Street which formerly contained 

Eilenberger Bakery which had grown throughout the years to include other products in 

addition to the bakery items.  The building contains parking and a loading area at the 

rear of the property.  Thorough Food Company LLC is investing funds necessary to bring 

the building up to code including the installation of grease traps which are required by 

city ordinance. 

 

COUNCIL REVIEW 

The item will be placed on Council's agenda for consideration on June 10, 2024. 

 



Agenda Date: 06/06/2024
To: Planning and Zoning Commission
From: Susan Davis, Planning Technician
Agenda Item: Request to Rezone Industrial to Mixed Residential
Date Submitted: 06/03/2024

SUMMARY:
Public hearing, discussion, and consideration of a request to rezone Sheridan Terrace, Pinewood I,
Pinewood II, Miller Street, and Pillar Street from Industrial to Mixed Residential.  The proposed rezoning
area is populated with Single-Family Residential structures and is adjacent to the railroad tracks on the
east.  On May 10, 2023, seventy-seven notices were mailed to property owners within 200-feet of the
location of the zoning change application. As of the date of this report, two comments (2.6%) have been
returned in favor.  One comment (1.3%) was returned in opposition for Tracts 14272 and 10754. 
To-date, seventy-four (96.1%) property owners have not responded.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Public hearing, discussion, and consideration.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Staff Report 
Zoning Map 
Old Zoning Map 
Legal Descriptions 



 
 

PZ-24-02/ 06.10.2023 
Zoning Change / Sheridan Terrace, Pinewood I, Pinewood II, Pillar Street, and Miller Street 
  Page 1 of 3 

 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

         AGENDA DATE: June 6, 2024 

      ITEM PZ-24-04 / STAFF REPORT 

 

 

REQUEST:  Rezone Industrial to Mixed Residential 

APPLICANT: Staff on behalf of the City of Palestine 

EXHIBITS: Zoning Maps 

PREPARED BY:  Susan Davis, Planning Tech 

 

PROPERTY INFORMATION 

LOCATION: See attached map 

ZONING: Industrial (I) 

OVERLAY ZONES: None 

LAND USE: Single-family Residential and Vacant Properties 

ADJACENT ZONING: Retail Commercial (RC), Mixed Residential (MR), Highway 

Commercial (HC) and Industrial (I) 

ACREAGE: Multiple Tracts 

SUBDIVISION: Sheridan Terrace, Pinewood I, Pinewood II, Miller Street, 

and Pillar Street 

 

SUMMARY OF REQUEST 

The request for zoning change was prompted by a recent request to rebuild a single-

family structure in the Sheridan Terrace subdivision which is currently zoned Industrial. 

Due to the current Industrial zoning the residences located in Sheridan Terrace, Pinewood 

I, Pinewood II, Miller Street, and Pillar Street are considered Legal Non-Conforming.  This 

area was previously zoned R-3 prior to the adoption of the current zoning map.

PROPERTY ZONING AND LAND USE 

Adjacent zoning districts include Retail Commercial (RC) to the west, Highway 

Commercial (HC) and Mixed Residential (MR) to the east, and Industrial (I) to the north 

and south. 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

On May 10, 2023, seventy-seven notices were mailed to property owners within 200-feet 

of the location of the zoning change application. As of the date of this report, two 

comments (2.6%) have been returned in favor.  One comment (1.3%) was returned in 

opposition for Tracts 14272 and 10754.  To-date seventy-four (96.1%) property owners 

have not responded. 

  



 
 

PZ-24-02/ 06.10.2023 
Zoning Change / Sheridan Terrace, Pinewood I, Pinewood II, Pillar Street, and Miller Street 
  Page 2 of 3 

 

ZONING MAP 

The official zoning map adopted and declared to be a part of the zoning ordinance on 

September 14, 2020, by the City Council of the City of Palestine, Texas (Ordinance No. 

O-20-20) shows that the area identified above is in the Industrial zoning district. 

 

LOCATION MAP 

 



 
 

PZ-24-02/ 06.10.2023 
Zoning Change / Sheridan Terrace, Pinewood I, Pinewood II, Pillar Street, and Miller Street 
  Page 3 of 3 

 

STAFF COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATION 

The proposed rezoning area is populated with single-family residences adjacent to the 

railroad tracks on the east and commercial properties fronting West Oak on the west.  

Staff recommends consideration of approval of rezoning. 

The previous Zoning Map (shown below) reflects that the property was in the R-3 Single-

Family Detached High Density District, I-1 Light Industrial District, and the MF-2 Multiple 

Family Medium Density District. 

 

COUNCIL REVIEW 

Depending upon the determination of the Planning and Zoning Commission, the item will 

be placed on Council's agenda for consideration on June 24, 2024.  



J
o

e
L

o
u

is
S

t

L incoln St

J
o

e
L

o
u

is
S

t

79

R
om

al
le

n
D

r

Salt Works Rd

V
a

ria
h

S
t

Larry St

C
a

llie
r

S
t

C
a

ll ie
r

S
t

L
o

w
e

S
t

L incoln St

79

84

V
a

ria
h

S
t

M
cN

ei
l S

t

Sherida
n

D
r

T
im

b
e

r
D

r

C
a

ll ie
r

S
t

P inewood St

Court Dr

79

84

S
he

ri
da

n
D

r

R
om

alle
n

D
r

W
R

e
a

g
a

n
S

t

V
a

ria
h

S
t

256

256

M.L. Cary St

S herwood

W
Reagan

St

84

M
c

N
e

il
S

t

W
R

eagan
S

tM
ille

r
S

t

MR

MR

I

HC

I

I

I
I
I

I
I

II
II

II
II

I

I

MR

MR

I

I

I

I
I

I
I

I
I

II

HC

I

MR

I
I

I

I

RC

I
I

I

RC

I I

I I
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

I
I

II II

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
I

I

I

MR

MR

MR

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
MRMR

MR

MR

MR

MR

I

I

RC

I

I

MR

I

I

I

RC

RC

I
RC

I

I

I

I

I
I

RC
RC

RC
RC

RC

RC

RC

RC

RC

I

I
I

I

I

MR
MR
MR
MR

RC
I

I
I

I

I

I

I

RC

RC

RC

RCRC
RC

MR

MR

RCRCRC
RC

RC

I

I

II

I
I

I

I

I
I
I

I

I

I

RC

I

I

RC

I

I

I

I

I

I

MRMR
MR

RC

RC

RC

RC

RC

RC

RC
RC

RC

RC

RC

I

I
I

I

I

I

I I

II I

I I
II

I
I

I
III II

I

I

I

I
I

I

I
I

I

I
I

I
I

I
I

I
I

I

I

RC

I

I

I

RC

I

RC

I

MR
MR
MR
MR
MR

RC

RC

RC

RC
RC

RC

MR
MR

MR

MR
MR
MR
MR
MR

MR

RC

MR

MR
MR
MR
MR
MR
MR
MR
MR
MR
MRMR

RC

RC

RC

RC

RC

RC

MR
MR MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

RC

RC

RC
RC

RCRC

RC
RC

RC

MR

MR
MR MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR

MR
MR MR

MRMR

MR
MR MR

MR

RC

RC

RCRC

RC

RC
RC

RC RC

MR
MRMR

MR

RC

RC

MR

RC
RC

I

MR

I I

I

I

I

I

MR

I

I

I
I

I
I

MR

I

I

I

I

MR

I

I

I

MR
MR
MR
MR
MR
MR
MR

MR

MR

MR
MR
MR
MR
MR
MR

MR

MR

MR

Palestine Zoning Map

Esri Community Maps Contributors, Baylor University, DETCOG,
Texas Parks & Wildlife, © OpenStreetMap, Microsoft, CONANP,
Esri, TomTom, Garmin, SafeGraph, GeoTechnologies, Inc, METI/
NASA, USGS, EPA, NPS, US Census Bureau, USDA, USFWS

Anderson County Parcels

Zoning Boundaries

HC

I

MR

RC

City Boundary

5/28/2024, 12:10:06 PM

0 0.08 0.160.04 mi

0 0.1 0.20.05 km

1:4,514

City of Palestine, TX

**Owned by Cartmell - wants
to keep current zoning for 
their parcels.  Not opposed to 
neighborhood change to MR.

Cartmell**

Cartmell**

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line

plantech
Line



¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ ¾Þ

¾Þ¾Þ

¾Þ
¾Þ

¾Þ
¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ
¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ
¾Þ
¾Þ ¾Þ

¾Þ
¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ
¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ
¾Þ¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ¾Þ

¾Þ¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ ¾Þ

¾Þ¾Þ¾Þ
¾Þ¾Þ
¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ¾Þ ¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ ¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

¾Þ

OAKHURST DR

GARDNER DR

W LACY ST

HIGHLAND DR

MA
RI

ON
 ST

SAN DIEGO ST

LOUISIANA ST

ASH ST

CROCKETT RD

SPRUCE ST

E REAGAN ST

E CORONACA ST

S
MAGNO LIA

ST

ANGLE ST

PINE ST

N
MAGNOLI A

S T

COVERT ST

BROYLES ST

DURHAM ST

E GOOCH ST

E MARKET ST

SALT WORKS RD

W BURKITT ST

TIMBERLINE TR

DECHARD ST

N JOHN ST

LIN
K 

ST

QUAL RIDGE RD

SEVENTH ST

RAGLAND ST

W OAK ST

E PALESTINE AVE

ERWIN ST

W PARK AVE

CAPLIN ST

SHERRY LN

W HUFFSMITH ST

RED OAK LN

HARRISON

KICKAPOO ST

CALHOUN ST

SWANSON DR

SIERRA DR

BIRCH ST

JUNIPER DR

COTTAGE AVE

S GROVE ST

AVENUE A

CATALPA ST

LERAM DR

LU
DO

LP
H 

ST

DOUGLAS ST

BLACKJACK DR

WESTWOOD RD

SAN JACINTO ST

LONE OAK DR

ANDERSON DR

N ELM ST

REDBUD ST

W
IGW

AM ST

N RAINEY ST

E CRAWFORD ST

E SPRING ST

W SOUTH ST

MARTIN LUTHER KING JR BLVD

LAKEVIEW
 AVE

RAMPART ST

POST OAK LN

W CAMDEN ST

FAY WAY DR

W KOLSTAD ST

W MAIN ST

N MALLARD ST

PARKCREST DR

N PERRY ST

COURT DR

S DORRANCE ST

ROSS ST

VAUGHN ST

FOREST DR

W CORONACA ST

INWOOD DR

TRAVIS ST

MILAM ST

W CRAWFORD ST

MCCULOUGH ST

FIG ST

ROGERS ST

LIP
SEY AVE

W
ILL

OW
 C

RE
EK

 P
KW

Y

HAYS STDOW
LING ST

AVENUE B

LAMAR ST

SIXTH ST

THOMAS RD

FOURTH ST

RANGE RD

FANNIN ST

SWIFT ST

RIDGEWOOD DR

CHEROKEE ST

AVENUE C

N CHURCH ST

BROOKLYN AVE

E POPLAR ST

HODGES ST

ST
 H

WY
 15

5

AVENUE D

BOW
IE ST

ESPLANADE ST

IKE ST

S MICHAUX AVE

S QUEEN ST

S SYLVAN AVE

MAY ST

TEXAS AVE

VICTORY ST

STONE ST

HOWARD ST

JOE LOUIS ST

COUNTRY CLUB RD

CALLER ST

W
ES

T S
T

LOW
E ST

DELMAR ST

N CONWAY ST

SEQUOIA DR

W GOOCH ST

W BRAZOS ST
LARRY ST

LY
NC

H 
ST

CEDARVIEW DR

BROOKVIEW
 LN

CONRAD ST

DANIELS ST

PEACH TREE DR

BRAKENRIDGE ST

W COOK ST

CUMMINS ST

S HICKORY ST

GREEVER ST

W CAMPBELL ST

E ANGELINA ST

E BRAZOS ST

GILBERT ST

W DYE ST

ILLINOIS ST

SANDY LN

VAN FLEET ST

S JACKSON ST

E DAVIS ST

W DALLAS ST

WALTON ST

S FULTON ST

W DEBARD ST

MONTANA ST

HAW ST

E COLORADO ST

BENTW
OOD DR

JOHNSON ST

E COOK ST

TIP ST

TRAIL HOLLOW LN

SHERIDAN DR

W COLORADO ST

LAKE DR

DOVE RIDGE ST

CEDAR ST

W CAROLINA ST

EZELL

W SWANTZ ST

HILLTOP DR

W MAFFITT ST

VISTA RIDGE

BUTTERMILK DR

SUGAR LN

PALM DR

VENTURE VIEW

WALNUT ST

PICKENS DR

OA
KL

AN
D 

DR

WESTVIEW ST

W GIRAUD ST

BRIERWOOD DR

GIVENS ST

W GREEN ST

BENTTREE DR

YEAGER ST

PERSHING ST

NORTH ST

W
ESLEY DR

WRIGHT DR

SANDRA ST

LAURA ST

ALABAMA ST

BOWERS ST

CR 2204

KENNY DR

OLD ELKHART RD

OAK HILL DR
CEDARVALE ST

W REAGAN ST

TEXAS ST

VILLAGE ST

MU
ST

AN
G 

DR

LANGHAM LN

GLENHAVEN RD

VIRGINIA AVE

Private Rd 6421

MIDDLETON ST

COLLEY DR

W
OODRIDGE ST

PINETREE DR

MILLER ST

CEDAR HEIGHTS DR

COUNTY ROAD 421

RICKY DR

GLENWOOD DR

GA
RL

AN
D 

ST

S LOOP 256

BASSETT RD

MEDICAL DR

STEPHANIE DR

MISSOURI ST

PERRY TAP RD

DAVID DR

W
 PA

LE
ST

IN
E A

VE

WEST POINT TAP RD

ROSEW
OOD DR

E GILLESPIE RD

CREST DR

W
YNNW

OOD DR

WILLOW CREEK DR

STEWART ST

JOLLY ST

TYLER ST

WORD DR

LARKSPUR LN

MEADOW BROOK DR

CLOVER LN

LINCOLN ST

DEE ANN ST

CRESTLINE DR

N QUEEN ST

TRINITY CT

SHADY CREEK DR

THRELL ST

WINDRIDGE RD

BLANTON RD

YUPON DR

ALETA DR

ROMALLE
N DR

COLUMBIA ST

RAVINE DR

DONNIEBROOK DR

TURNER DR

MELISSA DR

SETTLERS CT

MONICA LN

HOLMES ST

W SPRING ST

ALPINE ST

WILLOWBROOK WAY

FLORENCE ST

OLD TUCKER

BENBROOK DR

BERKLEY DR

PALESTINE AVE

EDNA DR

WALL
 DR

BERMUDA LN

COFFEE ST

CLEARVIEW DR

OHIO ST

M L CARY ST

HENRY CRAWFORD RD

WOODSIDE DR

NANNIE LN

BROOKHOLLOW DR

BRISTOL RD

LINDEN DR

S SYCAMORE ST

MOORE DR

ARMORY RD

INDIAN CREEK DR

SUNSET RD

INDUSTRIAL BLVD

W GILLESPIE RD

TILE FACTORY RD

UPPER LAKE RD

MAVERICK DR

NIXON ST

SO
UT

HV
IE

W
 S

T

MURCHISON ST

BLUE LAKE RD

RICHLAND DR

N LOOP 256

VARIAH ST

OLD BRUSHY CREEK RD

ME
MO

RY
 L

N

BEN MILAM RD

E N
EW

MAN ST

PRIVATE ROAD 6421

WATER W
ORKS RD

N SYCAMORE ST

SHADY OAKS DR

N FORT ST

CYPRESS DR

TRIMBLE ST

E KOLSTAD ST

E DALLAS ST

DAISY LN

CLAY ST

E OAK ST

MILL ST

GEORGIA ST

KENWOOD RD

TERRY ST

TIMBER DR

MOODY ST

HUNTER DR

HAMLETT ST

E MAIN ST

GOLFCREST DR DREXEL ST

GAY AVE

LINE ST

CHANCELLOR DR

BOOKER ST

KN
OX

SHAMROCK DR

LILAC LN

EVERGREEN DR

LORI LN

REDW
OOD DR

OXFORD RD

MIMOSA DR

WANDA ST

FERGUSON RD

PALMER ST

SHADOW WOOD DR

PANTHER DR

E HUFFSMITH ST

HOOD ST

LISA LN

FIRST ST

FUTURE ST

SECOND ST

RAMBLING RD

CRAIG ST

CARVER DR

S ROYALL ST

MCNEIL
 ST

PECAN ST

WOODLAND DR

HAMILTON RD

MULBERRY ST

N JACKSON ST

EILENSTEIN ST

LONGHORN DR

LELIA ST

FOW
LER ST

PILLAR STMAPLE ST

GILLIS ST

E NECHES ST

KENT AVE

E LACY ST

E PARK AVE

TATE ST

ACADEMY

S CHURCH ST

LAKESHORE DR

CHESTNUT ST

YORKSHIRE BLVD

HU
RL

EY
 S

T

HILLSIDE LN

HEAD ST

SPENCER ST

SPRINGDALE ST

TENNESSEE AVE

£

Cemetery
Cemetery

Cemetery

This Zoning Map is a representation of the Official Zoning Map as
of the date specified. Prior to any decisions regarding a specific
lot or tract, Development Services should be consulted for
updates or changes to the map or the Zoning Ordinance of the City.

__________________________

THERRELL THOMAS,
MAYOR

Map Adopted by City Council on May 22, 2014

City of Palestine, Texas
Zoning Map

REAGAN PARK
MIXED USE DISTRICT

SEE INSERT "A"

P/I

LC

SF

SF

LC

P/I

SF

LC

SF

PO

SF

SF

LC

SF

SF

SF

SF

MF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SFSF

SF

SF

SF

PO

D

PO

SF

PO

PO

D

LC

SF

D

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SFSF

SF

MF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

LC

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

MF

SF

D

PO

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF
SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

MF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SFSF

SF

SF SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

MF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

D

SF
SF

SF

SF

D

SF

MF

D

P/I

D

D

SF

D

D

PO

LC

SF

SF

SF

LC

PO

SF

SF

SF

LC

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

LC

SF

SF

SF

MF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

SFSF

D

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SFSF

SF

SF

SF

PO

DSF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SFSF

D

PO

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

LC

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

MF

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

PO

SF

SFSF

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF
SF SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

D

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF
LC

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SFSF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF
PO

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

MF
SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SFSF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

MF

LC

SF
SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

LC

LCSF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

LC

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

LC

SF

MF

MF

PO

MF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

MF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

LC

SF

SF

SF

LC

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

PO

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF SF

SF

LC

SF

SF

P/I

LC

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF SF
SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

P/I

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF SFSF

SF

SF

S ROYALL ST

S SYCAMORE ST

S MAGNOLIA STMAY ST

JOLLY ST S SYLVAN AVE

S MICHAUX AVE

E PARK AVE

E NECHES ST

E BRAZOS ST

E ANGELINA ST

BOWIE ST

E COLORADO ST

W REAGAN ST

W GOOCH ST

W PARK AVE

S CHURCH ST

W SPRING ST

W COLORADO ST

E DALLAS ST

W BURKITT ST

W DALLAS ST

W BRAZOS ST

W NECHES ST

E REAGAN ST

CROCKETT RD

S QUEEN ST
S DORRANCE ST

W ANGELINA ST

VAUGHN ST

LAMAR ST

BOWERS ST

S HICKORY ST

HUNTER DR

E COOK ST

E DAVIS ST

BROYLES ST

E GOOCH ST

W COOK ST

CIRCLE DR

W HOXIE ST

W CAMPBELL ST

E HOXIE ST

RAILROAD AVE

E REAGAN ST

S C
HU

RC
H S

T

S QUEEN ST

REAGAN
PARK

REAGAN PARK
MIXED USE DISTRICT

INSERT "A"

PALESTINE
MUNICIPAL

AIRPORT

TEXAS
STATE

RAILROAD

WILLOW
CREEK

BUSINESS
PARK

Reagan Park District Table of Uses
SF      SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL
D       DUPLEX RESIDENTIAL
MF    MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL
P/I     PUBLIC/ INSTITUTIONAL
PO    PROFESSIONAL OFFICE
LC     LIGHT COMMERCIAL

Legend
ZONING

RE RESIDENTIAL ESTATE DISTRICT
R-1 SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED LOW DENSITY DISTRICT
R-2 SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED MEDIUM DENSITY DISTRICT
R-3 SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED HIGH DENSITY DISTRICT

R-5  ZERO LOT LINE SINGLE FAMILY
MF-1 MULTIPLE FAMILY LOW DENSITY DISTRICT
MF-2 MULTIPLE FAMILY MEDIUM DENSITY DISTRICT
MF-3 MULTIPLE FAMILY HIGH DENSITY DISTRICT

C-1 CONVIENENCE CENTER RETAIL DISTRICT
C-2  LOCAL RETAIL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT
C-3 GENERAL RETAIL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT
C-4 HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT
CBD CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT
RPO RESTRICTED PROFESSIONAL OFFICE
I-1 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT
I-2 GENERAL INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT

MH MOBLIE HOME PARK DISTRICT

R-4 SINGLE FAMILY MANUFACTURED HOUSING OF MOBILE HOME DISTRICT

Palestine City Limits
Northside Historical District
Southside Historical District
Main Street Boundary
Michaux Historic Addition
Reagan Park Mixed Use District

Palestine Historic Landmark¾Þ

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THIS IS THE OFFICIAL ZONING
MAP REFERRED TO IN THE ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF
PALESTINE, ADOPTED ON MARCH 11, 2013, WHICH
REPLACES AND SUPERCEDES THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP
WHICH WAS ADOPTED ON SEPTEMBER 28TH, 1992.

ATTEST: 

_________________________________

TERESA HERRERA
CITY SECRETARY

Downtown Historic Overlay



LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 

 

TRACT ONE – SHERIDAN TERRACE 

All those certain lots, tracts, or parcels of land being Lots 1R, 2R, 32A, 32B, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 

38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 48, 47, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 71A, 71B, 72, 73, 74, 75, 

76, 77,  80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, and 86, of the Revised Plat No. 1 of  Sheridan Terrace Addition to 

the City of Palestine, Texas, as shown in Map Envelope #100B of the Map Envelope Records in 

the Office of the County Clerk of Anderson County, Texas. 

 

TRACT TWO – PINEWOOD I 

All those certain lots, tracts, or parcels of land being Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, Pinewood 

Subdivision, Section 1, in the Joseph Jordan Survey, A-33, in the Palestine, Anderson County, 

Texas, according to the map or plat thereof of record in Map Envelope 166-B of the Map 

Records of Anderson County, Texas, to which map or plat and the record thereof reference is 

made for all purposes. 

 

TRACT THREE - PINEWOOD II 

All those certain lots, tracts, or parcels of land being Lots 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 

18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, and 25, Section 2 of Pinewood Subdivision, in the Joseph Jordan 

Survey, A-33, in Palestine, Anderson County, Texas, according to the map or plat thereof of 

record in Map Envelope 168-D of the Map Records of Anderson County, Texas, to which map or 

plat and the record thereof reference is made for all purposes. 

 

TRACT FOUR - MILLER 

Miller, C, Lot 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9A, 9B, 10B, 10R, 14A, 14B, 15A, 15B, 16, 17, 18, 19A, 19B, 

20, 21, 22, and Tract A, and B 

 

TRACT FIVE – JOHN ARTHUR SURVEY, BLOCK 1215 

All those certain lots, tracts, or parcels of land being a part of the John Arthur Survey, A-4, Block 

1215, Tracts 19, 19A, 20, 20A, 21, 22, 24, 25, 26, 30, 31, 27, 28, 29, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, and 3 

 

TRACT FIVE – JOHN ARTHUR SURVEY, BLOCK 1216 

All those certain lots, tracts, or parcels of land being a part of the Joseph Jordan Survey, A-33,  

Block 1216, Tracts 9, 10, 11, 12, and 15  

 

TRACT SIX – JOHN ARTHUR SURVEY, BLOCK 864 

All those certain lots, tracts, or parcels of land being a part of the John Arthur Survey, A-4, Block 

864, Tracts 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14B, 28A, 28B, 28X, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, and 35 

 

EXCLUDE CARTMELL ADDITION (PER OWNER REQUEST) 

Cartmell Addition Lot 3, 4 



Agenda Date: 06/06/2024
To: Planning and Zoning Commission
From: Susan Davis, Planning Technician
Agenda Item: Discussion concerning Manufactured Homes within the City Limits
Date Submitted: 06/03/2024

SUMMARY:
Discussion concerning Chapter 39, Zoning Code, Article II, Section 39.2.2-13, Land Use Chart regarding
Manufactured Homes which are currently allowed by right in the Manufactured Home Park District and
the Manufactured Home Overlay District; and by Specific Use Permit in the Residential Estate, Mixed
Residential, and Industrial Zoning Districts.  The Specific Use Permit Process, including the conditions,
are stated in Chapter 39, Zoning Code, Article IV, Section 39.4.3-2.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Discussion concerning manufactured homes within the city limits.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Ordinances 
Manufactured Home Overlay 



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-04-10 10:02:54 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 44) 

 
Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 39.2.2-12. Manufactured home overlay district (MHO). 

(1) Purpose. The MHO - Manufactured home overlay district is intended to offer affordable housing option and 
flexibility in appropriate areas of the city.  

(2) Allowed uses. In addition to the uses allowed in the base district, MHO will allow a manufactured home by 
right subject to additional regulations as described in section 39.2.4-32, manufactured and mobile homes.  

(3) Accessory uses. All accessory use regulations of the base district shall be allowed.  

(4) Other requirements. Article III, divisions 1—7 of this ordinance [chapter] shall apply.  

(Ord. No. O-20-20, § 2(Exh. A), 9-14-2020; Ord. No. O-18-21, § 4(Att. A), 1-25-2021) 

 

 



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-04-10 10:02:54 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 44) 

 
Page 1 of 2 

Sec. 39.2.2-6. Manufactured housing and mobile home park (MHP). 

(1) Purpose. The MHP - Manufactured home park district is intended to provide for a quality manufactured 
home park subdivision development containing many of the characteristics and atmosphere of a 
conventional type single-family residential subdivision on the lot, while adding to the rural, open space 
character to the city.  

(2) Allowed uses. Buildings or land shall not be used, and buildings shall not be erected, except for the following 
specified uses, unless otherwise provided for in this ordinance [chapter]. Land and/or buildings in this district 
may be used as shown in section 39.2.2-13 as denoted by the following abbreviations:  

(a) Permitted use (P). Land and/or buildings in this district may be used by right, subject to all other 
applicable provisions of this ordinance [chapter].  

(b) Specific use (S). Land and/or buildings are subject to article II, division 4, and will be reviewed and 
permitted in accordance with article IV, division 3, section 39.4.3-2 of this ordinance [chapter].  

(c) Not permitted. Blank cells indicate that a use is not permitted within the zoning district.  

(3) Accessory uses. Accessory use of land shall not exceed five percent of the total land area.  

(a) Accessory use shall be determined based on the definition of accessory use in article V.  

(b) Accessory structures shall also be subject to the requirements of section 39.2.4-2.  

(c) An accessory structure which has a horizontal area exceeding 25 square feet and is attached to a 
manufactured home or located within ten feet of its window and has an opaque top or roof that is 
higher than the nearest window, shall, for purposes of all separation requirements, be considered part 
of the manufactured home.  

(4) Other requirements. 

(a) Parking and loading: See article III, division 3.  

(b) Landscaping and tree preservation: See article III, division 4.  

(c) Screening and fencing: See article III, division 5.  

(d) Signs: Temporary signage for seasonal sale of products will be allowed in accordance with article III, 
division 6.  

(e) Outdoor storage: Is not allowed in this district.  

(f) Principle dwelling and/or accessory use in manufactured home park district may use shipping/cargo 
containers or tiny house, subject to requirements in article II, division 4.  

(g) All standards applying to general subdivision developments with regard to all utilities public and private 
streets, sidewalks (per chapter 40, subdivision ordinance of the Code of Ordinances and article III, 
division I, of this ordinance [chapter]) and fire per City of Palestine's adopted Fire Code shall apply to 
the design and development of a manufactured home park.  

(h) No part of any manufactured home park shall be used for nonresidential purposes, except such uses 
that are required for the direct servicing and well-being of park residents and for the management and 
maintenance of the park, and those found in section 39.2.2-13 land use chart.  

(i) Manufactured homes shall be anchored in accordance with standards promulgated by the state 
department of licensing and regulation.  

(j) All manufactured homes shall be underpinned.  



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-04-10 10:02:54 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 44) 

 
Page 2 of 2 

(5) Spatial requirements. 

Requirements  Lot  Principal Building  Accessory Building  
Manufactured Home Park/Development 
Min. area  3 acre  1,000 sq. ft.  -  
Max. density  10/acre (50 DU/5 acre)  
Min. width  40 ft.  -  -  
Min. depth  100 ft.  -  -  
Min. front yard setback  -  10 ft.  25 ft.  
Min. side yard setback  -  6 ft.  6 ft.  
Min. side street yard setback  -  10 ft.  10 ft.  
Min. rear yard setback  -  10 ft.  10 ft.  
Min. setback from other permanent structures  -  20 ft.  20 ft.  
Mobile Home 
Min. area  4,000 sq. ft.  -  -  
Min. width  40 ft.  -  -  
Min. depth  100 ft.  -  -  
Min. front yard setback  -  10 ft.  25 ft.  
Min. side yard setback  -  6 ft.  6 ft.  
Min. side street yard setback  -  10 ft.  10 ft.  
Min. rear yard setback  -  10 ft.  10 ft.  
Min. setback from other permanent structures  -  20 ft.  20 ft.  
Min. setback from common parking area or 
other common areas  

-  5 ft.  5 ft.  

Max. height  -  20 ft.  25 ft.  

 

(Ord. No. O-20-20, § 2(Exh. A), 9-14-2020; Ord. No. O-18-21, § 4(Att. A), 1-25-2021) 

 



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-12-08 12:25:56 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 43) 

 
Page 1 of 3 

Sec. 39.4.3-2. Specific use permit (SUP) process. 

(1) Applicability. When allowed in section 39.2.2-13 land use chart, a person may petition the city council to 
approve a special use permit for such use on a property that they have a proprietary interest in accordance 
with the requirements and procedures set forth in this section.  

(2) Procedure. Any property owner wishing to use their property for a land use that is allowed by special use 
permit may make an application to the city manager or his/her designee in the following manner:  

(a) All requests for a special use permit shall be submitted together with required fees to the city manager 
or his/her designee which shall cause public notices to be sent as required per section 39.4.2-7 and 
subsection 39.4.2-8(6)(a) by law and the application placed on the planning and zoning commission 
agenda for a public hearing.  

(b) A recommendation from the planning and zoning commission shall cause public notices to be sent as 
required per section 39.4.2-7 and subsection 39.4.2-8(6)(a) by law and the application placed on the 
city council agenda for a public hearing.  

(c) Before taking any action on a specific use permit (SUP) application, the city council shall receive and 
review the planning and zoning commission recommendation and final report. All requests for specific 
use permit (SUP) shall include an application fee for processing the request and hearings before the 
city planning and zoning commission and the city council. These fees shall be in an amount set forth in 
the fee schedule adopted by the city council. In addition to the required fee, each application shall 
contain the following information:  

i. Accurate legal description of the subject property which is either a lot and block number to a plat 
of record in the Anderson County deed records or a metes and bounds description which will 
close and properly identify the property;  

ii. Location and street address of subject property;  

iii. Name, address, and telephone number of the present owner(s) of the property, together with 
proof of ownership. Proof of ownership may be made with the original of a deed or other 
instrument of conveyance or by certified copy of such instrument or by owner's or mortgagee's 
policy of title insurance or by the attorney's opinion of title by any attorney licensed to practice 
law in the State of Texas;  

iv. Current zoning classification;  

v. Current status of development of subject property including general statement of its 
development and description of all existing improvements;  

vi. Applicant's reasons for desiring specific use permit (SUP);  

vii. Existing deed restrictions, proposed deed restrictions;  

viii. Current status of planning and proposed development and time required for proposed 
development;  

ix. A site plan as described in subsection 39.4.3-4(2)(d);  

x. Surveyor's map or plat of the proposed property if deemed necessary by the city manager or 
his/her designee; and  

xi. Each application must be signed by the owner(s), or owner(s) agent, giving applicant's mailing 
address and his proprietary status with reference to the property. In addition, each application 
shall contain a certificate signed and sworn by the applicant stating that the applicant is the 



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-12-08 12:25:56 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 43) 

 
Page 2 of 3 

owner(s) or agent(s) of the owner(s) of the subject property and therefore authorized to make 
such application.  

(d) The application fee will entitle applicant to have his/her application processed to allow a specific use 
for a single, contiguous parcel of property. When in the opinion of the city manager or his/her 
designee, the property requesting the specific use permit (SUP) is so large that the expenses of the city 
will exceed the application fee, the city manager or his/her designee may require a fee to be paid equal 
to the city's expense in sending out and publishing the notice required by state law for a specific use 
permit (SUP).  

(3) Standards for approval. The planning and zoning commission and the city council shall consider the following 
when reviewing an application for a specific use permit (SUP) on a property:  

(a) Conformance with applicable regulations and standards established by this zoning ordinance;  

(b) Compatibility with the comprehensive plan;  

(c) Compatibility with existing or permitted uses on neighboring properties in terms of building height, 
bulk, scale, setbacks, open spaces, landscaping and site development, and access and circulation 
capacity; unless the neighboring properties are nonconforming and/or not in compliance with the 
comprehensive plan and approval of the specific use permit (SUP) will bring the requested property in 
compliance with this chapter and the city's comprehensive plan;  

(d) Potentially unfavorable effects or impacts on existing or permitted uses on adjacent sites, to the extent 
such impacts exceed those that reasonably may result from use of the site by a permitted use, 
including without limitation:  

i. Location, lighting and type of signs, and the relation of signs to adjacent properties;  

ii. Noise producing elements;  

iii. Glare of vehicular and stationary lights and effect of such lights on the established character of 
the neighborhood;  

iv. Safety from fire hazard, and measures for fire control; and  

v. Protection of adjacent property from drainage, floods, erosion or other water damage.  

(e) Safety and convenience of vehicular and pedestrian circulation on the premises and in the area 
immediately surrounding the site, and the effect of traffic reasonably expected to be generated by the 
proposed use and other uses reasonably anticipated in the area considering existing zoning and 
proposed land uses in the area and the ability of the city's existing transportation network to handle 
the traffic.  

(4) Effect of denial. "Denial with prejudice" of the specific use permit (SUP) request by the city council will 
require a two-year wait period before a similar request on that property can be reconsidered by the city. A 
simple "denial" of the specific use permit (SUP) request by the city council will require a six-month wait 
period before a similar request on that property can be reconsidered by the city.  

(5) Validity. Approval of a specific use request is not owner specific but stays with the property, until such time 
that the entire process is repeated to amend/repeal the specific use permit (SUP) from the property. A 
specific use permit (SUP) shall automatically expire in the following cases:  

(a) Time period specified in the specific use permit (SUP) ordinance has expired;  

(b) There is a change in use on the property;  

(c) The use is relocated; or  

(d) The use ceases for a period of six consecutive months.  



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-12-08 12:25:56 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 43) 

 
Page 3 of 3 

(6) Procedures for the manufactured home specific use permit. 

(a) Complete and submit a specific use permit application. A site plan, a floor plan, and pictures of the 
proposed home must be submitted. A permit fee of $125.00 is paid at the time of submittal.  

(b) The building permits office will send out notifications by certified mail to each taxpayer as ownership 
appears on the last approved tax roll, located within a 200-foot radius of the proposed property at 
least ten days prior to the next regularly scheduled planning and zoning commission meeting. The 
notifications will request a reply of "in favor" or "opposed" from the property owners regarding the 
placement of the manufactured home.  

(c) Planning and zoning commission and the city council person from that said council district will review 
the submittal documents and the property owners' reply letters. An approval will be given if at least 50 
percent of the reply letters received from each taxpayer as ownership appears on the last approved tax 
roll, and have an "in favor" reply; along with an approval from a majority of the commission with the 
council person's approval. At this time, the approval is final, and a building permit is issued by the 
building official.  

(d) A city council approval is required for the specific use permit when it is not approved by the planning 
and zoning commission. A public notice is published in the local newspaper at least 15 days prior to the 
next regularly scheduled city council meeting. The city council may or may not overturn the decision 
made by the planning and zoning commission.  

(e) Manufactured homes proposed within the manufactured home overlay district do not require the 
specific use permit.  

(f) The placement of the manufactured home requires the following conditions:  

i. The front of the mobile home shall face the street. For purposes of this section, the front of the 
mobile home will always be on one of the longest sides of the mobile home and shall be the side 
of the home which is more attractive and designed by the manufacturer with the more attractive 
"front door".  

ii. The lot shall provide all-weather off-street parking spaces for two vehicles.  

iii. Only double-wide mobile homes shall be considered for a specific use permit.  

iv. No mobile home manufactured over five years from the date of filing for the specific use permit 
shall be allowed.  

v. Non-combustible and solid underpinning shall be installed prior to a certificate of occupancy 
being issued.  

( Ord. No. O-20-20 , § 2(Exh. A), 9-14-2020; Ord. No. O-18-21 , § 4(Att. A), 1-25-2021) 

 



9/8/2020 BIS Consulting Web App

https://gis.bisclient.com/andersoncad/index.html 1/1

36343
36346 36339 3588835954

35894 35867

31616

32202

32208

32194

32217

10492

32239

32198

31594

31629

32244

31611

31599

32205

32243

32233

31630

60905

32252

3
31631

32242
31

31602

10495
32254

10486

1050

10500

32202

10488
10501

31606

32245

31612

31609

36807

31615

32230 31603

32253

42805

1050

10489

28718
33245

10722

28719

33253

32216

17886

32213

33255

32258

33245

33258

32236

32210

32225

10723

28716

28718

32263

32220

3258

33256

28718

17883

33247

32148
32259

28718

3259

10487

32223

28720

33251
44579

10721

32255

17882

32247

10723 10487

45196

28718

368

35959

3599535995

17867

826142

17854

29279

35971

17891

35899

17863

35882

45073

45039

17888

35788

36165

35779

35974

36167

35959

35966

35991

35876

17861

35987

31625
32138

35889
35885

36166

31628
3680

45040

36168

45037

35984

35784

35875

36169

32130

17851

35957

35879

35877

17855

17911

36801

35995

35961

35873

17856

36799
36798

10486

36810

35756

35871

35995

35879

35995

36812
31625

35984
35875

36800

32141

45039

35990

17865

35898

35782
17862

35994
17827

35989

35785
17858

35963

17904

17826

45426

32201

3680

17857

31632

36813

35993

35872

35
35871

31626

35806

31625

46503

35995
35995

17861

17850

35808
35988

35973

35982

45039

35873

35971

35964

35963

36808

17870 35995

17869

17890

35779

17888

17889

35880

35995

35995

35970
35879

3

35988

35880

32201

35879

36811

17853

17914
35976

35889

36809

35995

45038

29275

32125

33348

33360

31715

32124

33347

36344

36358

45429

36352

32264

31736

33364

32114

17887
17881

31726

33348

33367

31734

32121

32189

36344

33355
33346

32131

33356

31731

32113

32188

31728
31733

3335833354

45523

45429

32122

32133

32184

32182

36339

36344

32142

32187

33367

32178

17902

45523

36350

33366

36354

3350

32148

29274

33349

33359

7871

31722
31719

42760

45523

36344

33353

33350

36344

32143

31721

36356

32117

31723

33366

44930

36359

852096

33357

36345

36345

66072

17872

31716

17873

36345

33367

31718

33367

17871

29275

33357

32119

32182

32191

17909

32116

852096

64765

BLK

BLK 864

33

2

00000000

3598

488
33

34883488 000

88888888
595959595959

66
45555555

444444444444 444

1

92
3

9292

3

33

KKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKK

55555855885555558855558555558555558558855558855558855558555588
353558

9999999995599999

355555555969696969696969696969696333333333333
55555555555999

443336363636663434446666 446633333333

3359633636363636363636343434343434343444444444

55003366353566 5566 5566

445454545454545545545455
Search Here:

+

–

31°45′32″N 95°38′39″W

3533

3333333333333333323333333333333333332333

35533333

00000 150150150150150 300ft300ft300ft300ft300ft

353535555555555535888888888888877777777777222222

3535353535555555555555585585858

88888888888888
88887777777777888877888877777777

32333333

888884448882221818188888888822 88882





Enter Address, Name, or ID

3

3


	Agenda
	AI_4778_Approval of Minutes for the May 2, 2024 Meeting
	       ATT_Minutes
	AI_4779_Specific Use Permit for 512 N John
	       ATT_Application
	       ATT_Staff Report
	AI_4780_Request to Rezone Industrial to Mixed Residential
	       ATT_Staff Report
	       ATT_Zoning Map
	       ATT_Old Zoning Map
	       ATT_Legal Descriptions
	AI_4781_Discussion concerning Manufactured Homes within the City Limits
	       ATT_Ordinances
	Sec._39.2.2_12.___Manufactured_home_overlay_district__MHO_..pdf
	Sec._39.2.2_6.___Manufactured_housing_and_mobile_home_park__MHP_..pdf
	Sec._39.4.3_2.___Specific_use_permit__SUP__process..pdf

	       ATT_Manufactured Home Overlay

